**RECEIVED**  
**Jan 30 2023**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-001605  
Unpublished Opinion No. 2022-UP-413

---

Lucas Marchant, .....Respondent,

v.

John Doe and John Doe d/b/a Democrats for Marchant, Defendants,

Of which John Doe is the .....Petitioner.

---

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

Samuel D. Harms  
S.C. Bar No: 13537  
Double Aught Injury Lawyers  
33 Market Point Drive  
Greenville, SC 29607  
SamuelHarms@Call00.com  
(864) 453-0000  
Attorney for Petitioner

##

### QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. The plaintiff filed a campaign ethics complaint against the defendants in the Court of Common Pleas instead of the South Carolina State Ethics Commission. Does the Court of Common Pleas have subject matter jurisdiction over the campaign ethics complaint?
2. The order of the trial court will unmask the identity of John Doe 2. Once the identity of John Doe 2 is unmasked, the appellate courts have no remedy to correct the trial court, so the order of the trial court determines the action and prevents a subsequent appealable judgment. The Court of Appeals found that the order of the trial court was not immediately appealable and dismissed the appeal. Did the Court of Appeals err in dismissing the appeal?
3. Does John Doe 2 have a federal constitutional right to anonymous political speech and the anonymous distribution of political speech of third parties? Did the Court of Appeals err in not reaching the issue?
4. Does John Doe 2 have a state constitutional right to anonymous political speech and the anonymous distribution of political speech of third parties? Did the Court of Appeals err in not reaching the issue?
5. The plaintiff is a politician who alleges that he was defamed during his campaign for political office. Can a politician bring a defamation action when the politician alleges that the defendants acted with mere malice? Did the Court of Appeals err in not reaching the issue?
6. The plaintiff's attorney issued a subpoena to Facebook to unmask the identity of the defendants without first commencing a lawsuit. Can a plaintiff's attorney issue a subpoena without first commencing a lawsuit? Did the Court of Appeals err in not reaching the issue?
7. The plaintiff's attorney issued a subpoena to Facebook to unmask the identity of the defendants but did not serve the subpoena on either defendant. Is a plaintiff's attorney required to serve a subpoena to a non-party on a defendant? Did the Court of Appeals err in not reaching the issue?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The plaintiff, Lucas Marchant, was an independent candidate for the office of 13<sup>th</sup> Judicial Circuit Solicitor. (R. p. 21) (Complaint). On October 16, 2018, Lucas Marchant filed a campaign ethics complaint in the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas. (R. p. 21) (Complaint). The plaintiff filed the ethics complaint against two defendants: John Doe and John Doe d/b/a Democrats for Marchant. Since both defendants are named John Doe in the ethics complaint, and to avoid confusion, this petition uses the description John Doe 1 to refer to the first defendant to file an answer, and uses the description John Doe 2 to refer to the second defendant to file an answer to the ethics complaint (R. p. 30) (John Doe 1 Answer); (R. p. 31) (John Doe 2 Answer). This petition is filed by John Doe 2.

On October 17, 2018, the day after the ethics complaint was filed, but before the action was commenced by serving the complaint on either defendant, the plaintiff issued a subpoena to Facebook, Inc. ("Facebook"). (R. pp. 286-294) (Subp. Cover Letter, SC Subp. and Calif. Subp.). The plaintiff did not serve the subpoena on any defendant as required by the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. On January 2, 2019, John Doe 1 filed a motion to quash the subpoena issued to Facebook. (R. pp. 110) (Motion to Quash). On January 18, 2019, the plaintiff filed an amended ethics complaint. (R. p. 25) (Amended Complaint). The amended complaint dropped the request for an injunction and added a cause of action for defamation. On January 24, 2019, Judge Perry H. Gravely heard oral arguments on John Doe 1's motion to quash the subpoena to Facebook. (R. p. 35) (Hearing Transcript 01/24/2019). That same day, on January 24,

2019, the trial court issued an order denying John Doe 1's motion to quash the subpoena. (R. p. 16) (Order 01/24/2019).

On February 25, 2019, John Doe 1 filed an answer to the complaint. (R. p. 30) (John Doe 1 Answer) and a Notice of Appeal (R. p. 303) (John Doe 1 Notice of Appeal). On April 4, 2019, the attorney for John Doe 1 was relieved as counsel by the court. (R. p. 180) (Consent Order 04/04/2019). On May 2, 2019, the Court of Appeals issued an order dismissing the appeal of John Doe 1 because the underlying order was not immediately appealable. (R. p. 304) (Order 05/02/2019). The remittitur was sent on May 21, 2019. (R. p. 305) (Remittitur).

On May 10, 2019, John Doe 2 filed an answer and a motion to dismiss, a motion for a protective order, and a motion to quash the subpoena to Facebook. (R. p. 31) (John Doe 2 Answer); (R. p. 183) (Motion to Dismiss); (R. p. 184) (Motion for Protective Order/Quash). On June 25, 2019, Judge Edward W. Miller heard oral arguments on John Doe 2's motion to dismiss, motion for a protective order, and motion to quash the subpoena to Facebook. (R. p. 56) (Hearing Transcript 06/25/2019). On August 28, 2019, the trial court issued an order denying John Doe 2's motion to dismiss, motion for a protective order, and motion to quash the subpoena to Facebook. (R. p. 3) (Order 08/28/2019). On September 23, 2019, John Doe 2 filed the Notice of Appeal appealing the January 24, 2019 and August 28, 2019 orders of the trial court. (R. p. 307) (Notice of Appeal). The Court of Appeals, on November 23, 2022, found that the trial court's order was not immediately appealable and dismissed the appeal of John Doe 2. (Unpublished Opinion No. 2022-UP-413) (the "Opinion"). The petitioner, John Doe 2, now seeks a writ of certiorari to review that decision.

## FACTS

The plaintiff, Lucas Marchant, was a candidate for the office of 13th Judicial Circuit Solicitor. (R. p. 21) (Complaint). He ran as an independent, petition candidate who had collected the required signatures to have his name appear on the November 6, 2018 general election ballot. *Id.* On October 16, 2018, Lucas Marchant filed a campaign ethics complaint in the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas against defendants John Doe and John Doe d/b/a Democrats for Marchant. (R. p. 21) (Complaint). The ethics complaint was filed within 50 days before the November 6, 2018 election. The plaintiff could have waited 3 weeks, until the day after the election, and filed the ethics complaint with the State Ethics Commission. The *Greenville News* published a news article about the allegations in the complaint.

The ethics complaint, in the facts section, alleges that the plaintiff is a candidate for the office of 13th Circuit Solicitor. (R. p. 21) (Complaint para. 5). The complaint further alleges that the defendants set up a Facebook page called “Democrats for Marchant,” and that the defendants are “attempting to polarize the Solicitor’s race and trick people into avoiding voting for Plaintiff.” (R. p. 22) (Complaint para. 11, 13). The complaint alleges that John Doe 1 and John Doe 2 worked together as a “group” (plaintiff’s phrase) to run Democrats for Marchant (an alleged committee). (R. p. 22) (Complaint para. 11, 12). The ethics complaint has two causes of action. (R. pp. 22-23) (Complaint). The first cause of action is a request for injunctive relief and alleges that the “Defendants’ actions violate South Carolina laws related to ethics, elections ....” (R. pp. 22-23) (Complaint para. 19). The plaintiff asked the court to enjoin the defendants from “[d]efrauding the public with false messages regarding campaign activity.” (R. p.

23) (Complaint para. 21). The second cause of action is a request for declaratory relief. The plaintiff asked the court to declare that the defendants' alleged conduct "violate[s] South Carolina Code Ann. § 8-13-1324 (2019) as they are anonymous campaign contributions." (R. p. 23) (Complaint para. 23). The complaint also asks the court to declare the "Defendants have violated ... other laws related to elections," and that the "Defendants have fraudulently sought to influence an election." (R. p. 23) (Complaint para. 24-25). The only two causes of action in the ethics complaint allege violations of the state's campaign ethics laws. There are no causes of action that do not involve an alleged violation of the campaign ethics laws.

The State Ethics Commission has exclusive jurisdiction over any allegation of a violation of the campaign ethics laws, including allegations against candidates, individuals, "a group of persons which, to influence the outcome of an elective office, receives contributions or makes expenditures," or "a noncandidate committee, or a committee that is not a campaign committee for a candidate but that is organized for the purpose of influencing an election." S.C. Code Ann. § 8-13-1300(6) and (6)(b) (2019) (emphasis added); S.C. Code Ann. § 8-13-320(7) and (9) (2019); S.C. Code Ann. § 8-13-1372(B) (2019); S.C. Code Ann. § 8-13-130 (2019). For complaints filed in the Court of Common Pleas against a candidate for solicitor within 50 days before an election, South Carolina Code Ann. § 8-13-320(9)(b)(1) (2019) requires the Court of Common Pleas to dismiss the ethics complaint within 10 days if the court does not issue a mandamus order or injunction within those 10 days. In this case, the trial court did not grant a mandamus order or injunction within 10 days, and therefore, the Court of Common Pleas was required to dismiss the ethics complaint on October 26, 2018. The

Court of Common Pleas never had subject matter jurisdiction in this case because the plaintiff did not file a complaint against a candidate. In the alternative, on October 27, 2018, the Court of Common Pleas lost subject matter jurisdiction over the complaint. Subject matter jurisdiction is with the State Ethics Commission.

On October 17, 2018, the day after the ethics complaint was filed, but before the action was commenced by serving the complaint on either defendant, the plaintiff issued a subpoena to Facebook, Inc. (“Facebook”) (R. pp. 286-294) (Subp. Cover Letter, SC Subp. and Calif. Subp.). The plaintiff did not serve the subpoena on any defendant as required by the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. The subpoena to Facebook requests information from Facebook such as the names of the persons that established or operated the “Democrats for Marchant” Facebook account and all email addresses for the persons that established or operated the Facebook account. (R. pp. 287, 293) (SC Subp. p. 1; Calif. Subp. Attachment 3). The subpoena to Facebook requests information that would reveal or unmask the identity of John Doe 2. (R. pp. 286-294) (Subp. Cover Letter, SC Subp. and Calif. Subp.). In addition, the subpoena requests the internet protocol (IP) addresses used to “[p]ublish statements [or] comment using the Democrats for Marchant account/profile.” (R. p. 293) (Calif. Subp. Attachment 3). The request would unmask the identity of anyone who posted a comment on the Facebook page.

On January 18, 2019, the plaintiff filed an amended ethics complaint. (R. pp. 25-29) (Amended Complaint). The trial court did not issue any order allowing the plaintiff to amend his ethics complaint. The amended complaint no longer had a request for injunctive relief, but instead, the plaintiff added a cause of action for defamation. The

amended complaint continues to allege that the plaintiff was a candidate for the office of solicitor, that the defendants set up a Facebook page called “Democrats for Marchant,” and that the defendants “intended to polarize the Solicitor’s race and trick people into avoiding voting for Plaintiff.” (R. pp. 26-27) (Amended Complaint para. 6, 12, 14). The amended complaint continues to refer to John Doe 1 and John Doe 2 as a “group” and alleges that they had a committee Democrats for Marchant. (R. p. 27) (Amended Comp. para. 12-13). The amended complaint asks the court to declare that the defendants’ alleged conduct “violated South Carolina Code Ann. § 8-13-1324 (2019) as they are anonymous campaign contributions.” (R. p. 28) (Amended Complaint para. 21). The amended complaint also asks the court to declare the “Defendants have violated ... other laws related to elections,” and that the “Defendants have fraudulently sought to influence an election.” (R. p. 28) (Amended Complaint para. 22-23). The defamation action alleges that the defendants “made multiple false statements about the Plaintiff intended to ... deter third parties from ... voting for him.” (R. p. 28) (Amended Complaint para. 24). In short, the amended complaint is a campaign ethics complaint with an additional defamation cause of action alleging the defendants’ violations of the ethics laws caused people to not vote for the plaintiff. The amended complaint is still just an ethics complaint. The defamation cause of action does not allege “actual malice” by the defendants, but instead, it just pleads mere “malice.” (R. p. 28) (Amended Complaint para. 27).

The plaintiff also propounded discovery requests to John Doe 2. (R. pp. 187-198) (Cover letter, interrogatories, requests for production). The interrogatories request information that would unmask the identity of John Doe 2. For example, interrogatory

number 8 states: “List your full legal name, address, social security number, date of birth, and place of employment.” (R. p. 191) (Interrogatory No. 8). Also, the requests for production seek information that would unmask the identity of John Doe 2. For example, request for production number 1 states: “Please provide a copy of the front and back of your current drivers’ license.” (R. p. 196) (Requests for Production No. 1).

## ARGUMENTS

### PART ONE: SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION

Question 1. The plaintiff filed a campaign ethics complaint against the defendants in the Court of Common Pleas instead of the South Carolina State Ethics Commission. Does the Court of Common Pleas have subject matter jurisdiction over the campaign ethics complaint?

The plaintiff filed a campaign ethics complaint against the defendants in the Court of Common Pleas instead of the South Carolina State Ethics Commission. The defendants are not candidates for public office, but instead, the plaintiff alleges that the defendants are a group or a committee. In *Rainey v. Haley*, 404 S.C. 320, 745 S.E.2d 81 (2013), the Supreme Court held that the Court of Common Pleas does not have subject matter jurisdiction over campaign ethics complaints, except in the limited situation where a complaint is filed against a candidate during the fifty-day period before an election. Defendant John Doe 2 filed a motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, but the trial court denied the motion. (R. pp. 3-15) (Court Order 08/28/2019). The Court of Appeals, and all courts, have an affirmative responsibility to avoid hearing matters if the court lacks subject matter jurisdiction. *Anderson v. Anderson*, 299 S.C. 110, 382 S.E.2d 897 (1989); *Eagle Container Co. v. County of Newberry*, 366 S.C. 611, 622 S.E.2d 733, (Ct. App. 2005). The Court of Appeals’ Opinion fails to recognize that

the Court of Common Pleas (and the Court of Appeals) does not have subject matter jurisdiction over the ethics complaint. The Supreme Court should grant a writ of certiorari because the Opinion conflicts with the Supreme Court's decision in *Rainey v. Haley*, 404 S.C. 320, 745 S.E.2d 81 (2013).

In addition, the Supreme Court should grant a writ of certiorari because *Rainey v. Haley* was resolved on a split decision with 3 Justices forming the majority opinion and 2 Justices concurring in the result. In the concurring opinion, Chief Justice Beatty and Justice Hearn disagreed with the majority opinion because they argued that the Court of Common Pleas has subject matter jurisdiction over ethics complaints. *Rainey*, 404 S.C. at 330. In support of that argument, the concurring opinion points out that the Court of Common Pleas is the exclusive forum for resolving complaints against a candidate during the fifty-day period before an election. In the instant case, the ethics complaint was filed within fifty days of an election. Therefore, a writ of certiorari is needed to provide a resolution of the disagreement between the majority opinion and concurring opinion on this important issue of campaign law.

## PART TWO: THE IMMEDIATE APPEALABILITY OF THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER

Question 2. The order of the trial court will unmask the identity of John Doe 2. Once the identity of John Doe 2 is unmasked, the appellate courts have no remedy to correct the trial court, so the order of the trial court determines the action and prevents a subsequent appealable judgment. The Court of Appeals found that the order of the trial court was not immediately appealable and dismissed the appeal. Did the Court of Appeals err in dismissing the appeal?

The order of the trial court will unmask the identity of John Doe 2. The order is immediately appealable. This issue is an issue of first impression in the context of a

plaintiff seeking to unmask the identity of a John Doe defendant in a civil lawsuit. In her book on appellate practice, Chief Justice Jean Toal wrote:

[W]here the appealed order has the effect of revealing the very thing the appellant claims should remain confidential, an immediate appeal may well be warranted and permitted by the appellate courts.

Jean Hoefler Toal et al., *Appellate Practice in South Carolina*, p. 154, (3rd ed. 2016).

The supreme courts of other States have addressed this issue. The Supreme Court of Pennsylvania issued a decision in a defamation action with similar facts and procedural history to the instant case. *Melvin v. Doe*, 836 A.2d 42, 575 Pa. 264 (Pa. 2003). The Pennsylvania Supreme Court ruled that John Doe could immediately appeal the denial of Doe's motion for a protective order. In that case, the plaintiff propounded discovery seeking the identity of John Doe. John Doe filed a motion for a protective order alleging that Doe's comment was protected by the constitutional right to engage in anonymous political speech. The trial court denied the motion for a protective order, and John Doe appealed. The Supreme Court of Pennsylvania held that the denial of John Doe's motion for a protective order was immediately appealable because John Doe's constitutional right to anonymous political speech "falls within the class of rights that are too important to be denied review" by the appellate courts. *Melvin v. Doe*, 836 A.2d at 50. The Pennsylvania Supreme Court reasoned that once John Doe's identity is disclosed, Doe's First Amendment claim is irreparably lost as there are no means to later cure such disclosure. *Id.* at 50. For these reasons, the South Carolina Supreme Court should issue a writ of certiorari to address this novel issue of first impression.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has held that a trial court's order is immediately appealable if the order permits discovery of a confidential matter. In this

case, the order permits the discovery of a confidential matter - the identity of John Doe 2. Once the identity of John Doe 2 is revealed, the appellate courts have no remedy to correct the trial court, so the order of the trial court in effect determines the action and prevents an appealable judgment. In addition, the trial court's order affects a substantial right of John Doe 2 - his constitutional rights to anonymous political speech and the anonymous distribution of political speech.

There are two decisions in the trial court's orders that are immediately appealable. First, the decision to deny the motion to quash the subpoena to Facebook. (R. pp. 11-14). The subpoena to Facebook requests information that will reveal or unmask the identity of John Doe 2. (R. pp. 287, 293) (SC and Calif. Subps.). Second, the decision to deny the motion for a protective order to prevent any discovery that reveals the identity of John Doe 2. (R. pp. 10-11). The trial court's decision will require John Doe 2 to respond to the plaintiff's interrogatories that request John Doe 2's name and address, and to respond to plaintiff's requests for production of documents that request a copy of John Doe 2's driver's license. (R. p. 187-198) (Discovery Requests).

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