RECEIVED

Mar 13 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001605
Unpublished Opinion No. 2022-UP-213

Lucas Marchant,.....Respondent,

v.

John Doe and John Doe d/b/a as Democrats for Marchant,
of which John Doe is the..... Petitioner.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Joshua Snow Kendrick (SC Bar 70453)
Christopher S. Leonard (SC Bar 80166)
KENDRICK & LEONARD, P.C.
506 Pettigru Street (29601)
P.O. Box 6938
Greenville, SC 29606
(864) 760-4000

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Under Doe 2’s reading of the statute, neither a non-public entity, such as a citizen, nor an anonymous person could ever be found in violation of the Ethics Act. Doe 2 argues the exclusive way to resolve an Ethics Act violation is with either the Ethics Committee of the House or Senate or the State Ethics Commission. The House or Senate only polices their own members. The Commission needs a named party that has some public status.

An unnamed person not serving in the state legislature is immune from the Ethics Act under Doe 2’s reading. For example, the Doe in this case (the real Doe) is not subject to any consequences from its actions if there is no procedure by which it can be prevented from illegally participating in an election. This is absurd.

No matter what a statute says, courts must reject any interpretation that will lead to a result so plainly absurd it could not have been intended by the legislature. *Duke Energy Corp. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 415 S.C. 351, 355, 782 S.E.2d 590, 592 (2016). The Court’s reading of a statute should be in harmony with its purpose. *Id.* Obviously, the

this Court does not accept this assertion, this would be an appropriate matter for factual development on remand.

General Assembly did not intend to place the vast majority of the State of South Carolina outside the reach of its Ethics Act. There must be some remedy for election shenanigans carried out by anonymous or private citizens. A proper reading of the statute at issue here requires recognition that the circuit court has jurisdiction over a controversy that would not otherwise be addressed.

If Respondent conceded a problem with subject matter jurisdiction in the original complaint for the sake of argument, it would have little effect on this case.¹¹ The trial court ruling would still be appropriate. By the time either of the Does responded to the complaint, it had been amended to add a claim for defamation, which would not be subject to the Petitioner's statutory argument. Respondent argues the lack of subject matter jurisdiction over the original complaint would void any amendments to that complaint. There is no authority for this proposition and such a rule would go against South Carolina court's general authority on amendments.

South Carolina freely allows amendments to a complaint to cure pleading defects, if those amendments would not be futile. *Skydive Myrtle Beach v. Horry Cty.*, 426 S.C. 175, 182, 826 S.E.2d 585, 589 (2019). If Doe is correct, and the trial court could not exercise jurisdiction over a violation of the Ethics Act, that would constitute a defect in the pleading. An amendment would have been allowed to bring an action that has nothing to do with the Ethics Act.

The defamation claim in this case was well within the statute of limitations and properly brought. Even if the trial court had no jurisdiction over the first complaint, there is no authority to prohibit the second complaint. Marchant could have dismissed the first complaint entirely and brought the second complaint. Even if Doe could convince a court it did not have jurisdiction over the causes of action related to the Ethics Act, he has no argument the defamation act was not properly before the court. The rule he advances

¹¹ Respondent does not concede this point, but as explained, it does not seem to matter.

would mean a party filing a defective pleading could never file a lawsuit against the same defendant, even if the cause of action were entirely different.

Marchant could have filed a separate defamation action against Doe. He could have filed a subsequent action for defamation any time within the statute of limitations. That action would not have been dependent in any way on the causes of action related to the Ethics Act. Any error in exercising jurisdiction was harmless and the order of the trial court should be affirmed.

2. THE ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT WAS NOT IMMEDIATELY APPEALABLE.

A party's right to appeal is governed by statutory law. *Ex parte Capital U-Drive-It, Inc.*, 369 S.C. 1, 6, 630 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2006). An appeal can typically be pursued only after a final judgment in the matter. *Id.*; S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330; Rule 72, SCRCR; Rule 201(a), SCACR. To be immediately appealable, an order must fall within one of the subsections of §14-3-330. *Energys Del., Inc. v. Hopkins*, 401 S.C. 615, 617, 738 S.E.2d 478, 479 (2013).

§14-3-330 sets four classes of orders that may be immediately appealable: (1) an order involving the merits of the action; (2) an order affecting a substantial right when the order would prevent judgment or discontinue the action, grants or refuses a new trial, or strikes a pleading; (3) affects a substantial right in a special proceeding after judgment; or (4) relates to an injunction or the appointment of a receiver. *Id.* Subsections 3 and 4 do not apply in this case. Subsection 1 does not apply; the order from the lower court simply ordered the case to proceed through discovery. It does not serve as a ruling on the merits.

Subsection 2 requires the order to affect the substantial rights of a party if *such order (a) in effect determines the action and prevents a judgment from which an appeal might be taken or discontinues the action, (b) grants or refuses a new trial or (c) strikes out an answer or any part thereof or any pleading in any action.* §14-3-330(2)(emphasis added). This subsection has been narrowly construed to generally

disallow the immediate appeal or orders issued before or during a case. *Hagood v. Summerville*, 362 S.C. 191, 196, 607 S.E.2d 707, 709 (2005). This Court has cautioned that piecemeal appeals should be avoided. *Id.*

The Court disfavors these piecemeal appeals for good reason. Factual disputes, and even the legal issues they trigger, are often best resolved by the trial court. In this case, two separate trial courts have considered the exact issues raised in this petition. None of those orders were rulings on the merits. They were simply rulings on whether discovery and litigation in this case can proceed. The Defendants have not lost any mode of trial nor been prevented from choosing their representation. *Hagood*, 362 S.C. at 197 (an order granting a motion to disqualify a party's attorney affects a substantial right and may be immediately appealable, as is an order depriving a party of a particular mode of trial to which it is entitled).

Even if Doe were to prove the trial court order involved a substantial right, which Marchant does not concede, that is only one element required for an appeal. An appeal affecting a substantial right must not only involve the right but must prevent a judgment from which the affected party can appeal. *Cobb v. Maccaro*, 310 S.C. 303, 305, 423 S.E.2d 156, 157 (Ct.App. 1992).

The trial court has twice thoroughly analyzed Doe's claims it should not have to participate in this case¹² and has twice ruled against Doe. The Court of Appeals correctly found the order was not immediately appealable and the decision was correct.

3. JOHN DOE DOES NOT HAVE A FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO ANONYMOUSLY DEFAME RESPONDENT.

A statement is defamatory if it tends to harm an individual's reputation in a way that lowers him in the eyes of the community or deters third parties from dealing with or associating with the individual. *Holtzscheiter v. Thomson Newspapers*, 332 S.C. 502, 518, 506 S.E.2d 497, 506 (1998)(Toal, J. concurring). Communications may be

¹² An interesting position, since John Doe 2 voluntarily appeared in the case.

defamatory to one person at a given time and place even if the communication would not be defamatory at a different time and place. *Id.* at 518 n.2.

The statements Doe made on the fake Facebook page were false.¹³ The posts garnered hundreds of negative comments, as intended by the operator of the Facebook page. None of the messages were true. They falsely attempted to associate Marchant with unpopular ideas to sway voters not to vote for him.

The posts were widely published by Doe to conservative voters. Financial analysis of the page and the advertising spent reflects over \$1000 was spent publishing this message, proving an intent to publish as widely as possible.¹⁴ Marchant suffered harm from the message as voters associated him with the Democratic Party and refused to vote for him. Proof of malice and reckless disregard for the truth are central to Marchant's claim. It is almost certain the party behind this page acted maliciously. Hiding behind a fake Facebook page further proves malice.

The First Amendment does not apply to defamatory speech made with actual malice. *New York Times v. Sullivan*, 376 U.S. 254, 279-80 (1964).¹⁵ In cases involving a public figure, like this, actual malice means the speaker knew its statements were false or made them in reckless disregard for their truth. *Murray v. Holnam, Inc.*, 344 S.C. 129,

¹³ Marchant does not believe the record shows it is Doe 2 that made these statements. Doe 1 made them. Doe 2's argument that it is the speaker is inconsistent with Doe 1's argument that it is the speaker. Marchant has argued Doe 2's lack of standing. If the Court rejects that argument, it does not necessarily matter which Doe the speaker was, since both Does have claimed to be the speaker on Facebook. For that reason, Marchant does not differentiate between Doe 1 and Doe 2 in this section.

¹⁴ These facts do not appear in the record because this appeal is from the denial of a motion to dismiss and quash a subpoena. Counsel does not believe their existence is determinative of this appeal, but to the extent the Court believes they must be in the record for a ruling, this matter would have to be remanded.

¹⁵ The *New York Times* standard applies to a public figure seeking damages against a news outlet. That is the highest protection offered in the defamation context. It is probably not applicable here, since there is no evidence Doe is a journalist. For the sake of argument, if Doe is not protected under *New York Times* there is certainly no other protection available for his statements.

144, 542 S.E.2d 743, 750-51 (Ct.App. 2001). In other words, lies are not protected by the First Amendment.

Doe incorrectly argues Marchant seeks to silence speech. Marchant is not complaining about speech, or criticism. Rather, he is complaining about defamatory speech. Defamatory speech is not protected by the First Amendment. *Beauharnais v. Illinois*, 343 U.S. 250, 266 (1952).

Doe claims the Supreme Court has “fully recognized” the right to anonymous political speech, citing *McIntyre v. Ohio Elections Commission*. *McIntyre* involved an Ohio law banning anonymous campaign literature. *McIntyre v. Ohio Elections Comm’n*, 514 U.S. 334, 338 (1995).

McIntyre is distinguishable from the instant case. The specific speech at issue in that case was not false, misleading, or libelous. *Id.* at 337. The Supreme Court held the Ohio statute being considered was unconstitutional. However, it also recognized the deterrence of false statements by liars was a legitimate aim. *Id.* at 350-51. A blanket prohibition on anonymous materials did not aid in that goal. The Supreme Court approvingly discussed the common law action for libel in Ohio and its use in combatting election-related libel or election fraud. *Id.* at 350, n.13. There is no blanket law at issue in this case. *McIntyre* does not apply to a private suit for defamation.

For the same reasons, *Talley v. California* is not applicable to this case. It considered a similarly broad ordinance in Los Angeles that outlawed anonymous handbills. *Talley v. California*, 362 U.S. 60, 60-61 (1960). The ordinance was found unconstitutional. However, the Court recognized there was an argument that the ordinance targeted fraud, false statements, and libel. Because the ordinance did not contain those limitations, the Court disregarded that argument. It did not address the validity of an ordinance that was limited to preventing those harms. *Id.* at 64.

Petitioner cites *United States v. Rumely* as recognizing a constitutional right to anonymously distribute speech. *United States v. Rumely*, 345 U.S. 41 (1953). *Rumely* narrowed the lower court’s First Amendment holding, declining to establish a broad

constitutional right under the doctrine of constitutional avoidance. *Id.* at 46-47. The Supreme Court holding did not establish any rights.

Petitioner suggests this Court should adopt a test to apply to this case, as it involves a novel issue. As a practical matter, the Petitioner never mentioned the imposition of such a test in the trial court. It is well-settled an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal but must have been raised to and ruled on by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review. *Staubes v. City of Folly Beach*, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000).

The practical implications of that rule are apparent here. It is difficult to respond to the Petitioner's claims about the requested test because the issue was never raised in the trial court, where it could have been factually developed. The Petitioner has not established a federal constitutional right to deceptive, false, and defamatory speech and the opinion of the Court of Appeals on this ground should be affirmed.

4. JOHN DOE DOES NOT HAVE A STATE CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO ANONYMOUSLY DEFAME RESPONDENT.

Most of the Petitioner's argument on this ground involves the ability of a State to adopt greater protections in its constitution than those in the federal constitution. This is true, but there is nothing in South Carolina law that suggests this State has decided to protect anonymous lies and defamation, regardless of the context in which the lies were made. There is also nothing novel about declining to offer protection to false and defamatory speech. In fact, that is well-settled in both state and federal law.

5. RESPONDENT PROPERLY PLED A DEFAMATION ACTION.

Petitioner correctly distinguishes between malice and actual malice in its brief. But it misses the difference in its argument and what occurred here. The *Elder* opinion reversed a verdict where actual malice was not proven. *Elder v. Gaffney Ledger*, 341 S.C. 108, 118-19, 533 S.E.2d 899, 904 (2000). There is no question Marchant will have to prove actual malice at any trial of this matter. But at the pleading stage, he only must allege it.

Actual malice in this context “is a subjective standard testing the publisher’s good faith belief in the truth of his or her statements.” *Id.* at 113. If the speaker knew at the time of the speech it was false or he spoke with reckless disregard for the truth, actual malice exists. *Id.* at 114.

Paragraphs 12, 13, 14, and 18 all describe the falsity of the Petitioner’s actions. Petitioner made statements knowing those statements were untrue. That is all that is required for actual malice. In construing a complaint, this Court should review the entire pleading. *Doe ex rel. Legal Guardian v. Barnwell School Dist.* 45, 369 S.C. 659, 663, 633 S.E.2d 518, 520 (Ct. App. 2006); *Smith v. Nelson*, 83 S.C. 294, 300, 65 S.E.261, 263 (1909)(construing the “complaint upon the whole”).

The pleading alleges actual malice and the ruling of the trial court should be affirmed and the decision of the Court of Appeals upheld.

GENERAL RESPONSE TO PART FIVE OF THE PETITION

Arguments related to the subpoena in this matter were waived by the actions of John Doe

Respondent does not concede that John Doe 2 is a proper party in this case. Respondent has previously argued against Doe 2’s standing. In summary, the actions of Doe 1 in response to the subpoena make it unlikely Doe 2 was the accountholder. Doe 1 was notified by Facebook of the subpoena and appeared through counsel to quash the subpoena.

After losing the motion to quash, Doe 1 filed an answer in this matter generally denying the allegations but not raising any affirmative defenses. Doe 1’s actions in fully challenging the subpoena and engaging in litigation should waive any claim the action was not properly served, or the subpoena was defective. The Does (whichever Doe is the real one) have suffered no prejudice from the subpoena. None of their complaints about the subpoena prejudiced their ability to challenge it.

6. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING A SUBPOENA CAN BE SERVED PRIOR TO SERVICE OF THE LAWSUIT UNDER THE UNIQUE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS CASE.

Arguments related to the subpoena in this matter were waived by the actions of John Doe

Respondent does not concede that John Doe 2 is a proper party in this case. Respondent has previously argued against Doe 2's standing. In summary, the actions of Doe 1 in response to the subpoena make it unlikely Doe 2 was the accountholder. Doe 1 was notified by Facebook of the subpoena and appeared through counsel to quash the subpoena.

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